Appendix 1: Three-Dimensional Hydrogeologic Framework

By Jay R. Cederberg, Donald S. Sweetkind, Susan G. Buto, and Melissa D. Masbruch

Appendix 1 of

Conceptual Model of the Great Basin Carbonate and Alluvial Aquifer System

Edited by Victor M. Heilweil and Lynette E. Brooks

Scientific Investigations Report 2010–5193

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

U.S. Department of the Interior

KEN SALAZAR, Secretary

U.S. Geological Survey

Marcia K. McNutt, Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2011

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment, visit http://www.usgs.gov or call 1-888-ASK-USGS

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit http://www.usgs.gov/pubprod

To order this and other USGS information products, visit http://store.usgs.gov

Any use of trade, product, or firm names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this report is in the public domain, permission must be secured from the individual copyright owners to reproduce any copyrighted materials contained within this report.

Suggested citation:

Heilweil, V.M., and Brooks, L.E., eds., 2011, Conceptual model of the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2010-5193, 188 p.

Contents

Input Data	1
Topographic Data	1
Geologic Maps	1
Well Stratigraphic Data	1
Cross Sections	3
Existing Geologic Frameworks	3
Depth-to-Basement Surface	3
Fault and Caldera Boundaries	3
Hydrogeologic Unit Gridded Surface Construction	5
Cenozoic Hydrogeologic Units	5
Pre-Cenozoic Units	9
Three-Dimensional Hydrogeologic Framework	9
References Cited 1	4

Figures

A1–1.	Map showing surficial hydrogeologic units and locations of geologic map data used to create the three-dimensional hydrogeologic framework in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	2
A1-2.	Map showing locations of wells and cross sections used to create the three- dimensional hydrogeologic framework in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	4
A1-3.	Map showing locations of published datasets and estimated thickness of Cenozoic deposits (depth to pre-Cenozoic rocks) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	6
A1-4.	Map showing extent and thickness of the upper basin-fill (UBFAU) and lower basin-fill (LBFAU) aquifer units (combined) and major fault zones in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	7
A15.	Map showing extent and thickness of the volcanic unit (VU) and caldera boundaries in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	8
A1–6.	Map showing extent and thickness of the thrusted lower carbonate aquifer unit (TLCAU) and thrusted noncarbonate confining unit (TNCCU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	10
A1–7.	Map showing extent and thickness of the upper siliciclastic confining unit (USCU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	11
A1-8.	Map showing extent and thickness of the lower carbonate aquifer unit (LCAU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	12
A1–9 .	Map showing extent and thickness of the upper carbonate aquifer unit (UCAU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area	13

Tables

A1–1.	Correlation of hydrogeologic units between the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial
	aquifer system study and Death Valley regional flow system study5

Conversion Factors

Inch/Pound to SI

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
inch (in.)	2.54	centimeter (cm)
inch (in.)	25.4	millimeter (mm)
foot (ft)	0.3048	meter (m)
mile (mi)	1.609	kilometer (km)
	Area	
acre	4,047	square meter (m ²)
acre	0.4047	hectare (ha)
square mile (mi ²)	2.590	square kilometer (km ²)
	Volume	
gallon (gal)	3.785	liter (L)
gallon (gal)	0.003785	cubic meter (m ³)
gallon (gal)	3.785	cubic decimeter (dm ³)
cubic foot (ft ³)	28.32	cubic decimeter (dm ³)
cubic foot (ft ³)	0.02832	cubic meter (m ³)
acre-foot (acre-ft)	1,233	cubic meter (m ³)
acre-foot (acre-ft)	0.001233	cubic hectometer (hm ³)
	Flow rate	
acre-foot per year (acre-ft/yr)	1,233	cubic meter per year (m ³ /yr)
acre-foot per year (acre-ft/yr)	0.001233	cubic hectometer per year (hm ³ /yr)
foot per year (ft/yr)	0.3048	meter per year (m/yr)
cubic foot per second (ft ³ /s)	0.02832	cubic meter per second (m^3/s)
cubic foot per day (ft^3/d)	0.02832	cubic meter per day (m^3/d)
gallon per minute (gal/min)	0.06309	liter per second (L/s)
	Hydraulic conductivity	
foot per day (ft/d)	0.3048	meter per day (m/d)
inch per day (in./d)	25.38	millimeter per day (mm/d)
	Transmissivity*	
foot squared per day (ft ² /d)	0.09290	meter squared per day (m^2/d)

Note: The conversion factors given above are for the entire report. Not all listed conversion factors will be in any given chapter of this report.

Temperature in degrees Celsius (°C) may be converted to degrees Fahrenheit (°F) as follows: °F=(1.8×°C)+32

Temperature in degrees Fahrenheit (°F) may be converted to degrees Celsius (°C) as follows: °C=(°F-32)/1.8

Temperature in kelvin (K) may be converted to degrees Fahrenheit (°F) as follows: °F=1.8K-459.67

Temperature in kelvin (K) may be converted to degrees Celsius (°C) as follows: $^{\circ}C=K-273.15$

Vertical coordinate information is referenced to the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88).

Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83).

Altitude, as used in this report, refers to distance above the vertical datum.

*Transmissivity: The standard unit for transmissivity is cubic foot per day per square foot times foot of aquifer thickness [(ft³/d)/ft²]ft. In this report, the mathematically reduced form, foot squared per day (ft²/d), is used for convenience.

Appendix 1: Three-Dimensional Hydrogeologic Framework

By Jay R. Cederberg, Donald S. Sweetkind, Susan G. Buto, and Melissa D. Masbruch

A three-dimensional (3D) hydrogeologic framework was constructed to represent the regional hydrogeologic units (HGUs) and major structures in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system (GBCAAS) study area. A generalized conceptual model of geology, structure, and faulting, incorporating hydrogeologic properties of the HGUs was used to develop a computer generated hydrogeologic framework. The digital 3D-hydrogeologic framework is the physical skeleton that will form the foundation of the groundwater flow model of the study area being developed concurrently (2011).

The 3D-hydrogeologic framework, consisting of nine HGUs with distinct hydraulic properties, was constructed by extracting and combining information from a variety of datasets. The top altitudes of the HGU surfaces were modeled from the input data using a 2.59 km^2 (1 mi²) grid cell size. The modeled HGU surfaces were constrained by two regional datasets: (1) the National Elevation Dataset Digital Elevation Model (NED DEM) surface (U.S. Geological Survey EROS Data Center, 1999) and (2) the depth-to-basement surface (depth to pre-Cenozoic rocks) (see section "Depth-to-Basement Surface"). The HGU surfaces were combined and stacked together, resulting in the 3D-hydrogeologic framework for the GBCAAS study area. Major fault zones and caldera margins were incorporated to define regional trends and structural controls on the hydrogeology. A detailed description of structural controls and HGU designations within the GBCAAS study area is given in the "Hydrogeologic Units" section of Chapter B.

Interpolation of spatial data points into grids representing the HGU surfaces was processed using Rockware Rockworks14[®] software. Further modification and interpretation of the gridded HGU surfaces was completed using Environmental Science Research Institute ARC/INFO[®] geographic information system (GIS) software.

Input Data

Construction of the 3D-hydrogeologic framework utilized data from multiple sources to define the top surface and extent of each HGU. Input data sources include topographic data, geologic maps, borehole logs, previously published geologic cross sections, and digital geophysical models.

Topographic Data

Digital elevation data for the study area consist of seamless 1:24,000-scale National Elevation Data (NED) digital elevation models (DEM) (U.S. Geological Survey EROS Data Center, 1999). Data are in Albers projection North American Datum 1983 with a grid cell spacing of about 30 m.

Geologic Maps

Data from digital state geologic maps of Arizona, California, Idaho, Nevada, and Utah were used as input to the 3D-hydrogeologic framework. Geologic data from the five state maps, ranging in scale from 1:500,000 to 1:1,000,000, were cross-correlated to generate an integrated geologic map database for the Western U.S. (Ludington and others, 1996), including the GBCAAS study area. Each geologic unit from the integrated dataset was assigned to a HGU using the criteria discussed in Chapter B and from published unit descriptions in the primary source data for the digital maps (fig. A1–1 and fig. B–2 of Chapter B).

HGU data from the surficial geologic map were processed in a GIS by locating nodes (points) along adjacent HGU polygon boundaries (fig. A1–1). Each node was assigned an HGU corresponding to the geologically oldest HGU polygon located at that point. Cross-correlating the NED at that point results in the top altitude of the HGU at that point relative to the surficial geologic map. The process assumes younger geologic units overlie older units. In order to simplify and reduce the number of data points from this data source, each HGU point within a radius of 402.3 m (1,320 ft) of another was combined and represented spatially as the geometric mean of the overlapping points.

Well Stratigraphic Data

Stratigraphic log data from 441 wells throughout the GBCAAS study area were compiled and HGU contacts at each well were delineated for input to the 3D-hydrogeologic framework. Well stratigraphic data came from a variety of sources and databases including Nevada and Utah oil and gas exploration wells (Hess and others, 2004; Utah Division



Figure A1–1. Surficial hydrogeologic units and locations of geologic map data used to create the three-dimensional hydrogeologic framework in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.

of Oil, Gas, and Mining, 2008), the MX missile program (Tumbusch and Schaefer, 1996), Southern Nevada Water Authority exploration and production wells (Nevada Division of Water Resources, 2008), and water wells in Utah (Utah Division of Water Rights, 2008). Thousands of wells have been drilled in the study area; however, only a small fraction of these wells have detailed lithologic and stratigraphic data with HGU contact altitudes. Locations of wells used for constructing the hydrogeologic framework are shown in figure A1–2.

Cross Sections

The contacts between HGUs were manually picked from 245 cross sections compiled from 99 separate sources and used as input data for developing the 3D-hydrogeologic framework (fig. A1–2). References for each of the cross sections used are listed in Auxiliary 1. A scanned image of each cross section was scaled and georeferenced in a GIS along the cross-section trace of the digital source map. Geologic units on each cross section were correlated to the HGUs defined for the GBCAAS study area. HGU contacts along the cross-section trace were used to pick points representing the oldest HGU at the contact. The altitude of the top surface of each HGU point represented in cross section was interpolated from the cross section vertical scale.

Existing Geologic Frameworks

The existing 3D-hydrogeologic framework for the Death Valley regional flow system (DVRFS) model (Faunt and others, 2004) was incorporated into the GBCAAS hydrogeologic framework (fig. A1–2). The DVRFS hydrogeologic model consists of 27 separate HGUs. Individual HGUs in the DVRFS model were grouped and assigned to the nine HGUs for this study (table A1–1). The grouped HGU surfaces from the Death Valley framework were resampled to a 2.59 km² (1 mi²) grid cell size used in this study.

Depth-to-Basement Surface

Regional gravity studies were used to delineate the boundary between the pre-Cenozoic basement rocks and the Cenozoic volcanic and sedimentary basin-fill deposits. Gravity data were used to estimate the shape and extent of the Cenozoic basins in three dimensions. There is a large density contrast between the pre-Cenozoic basement rocks and the overlying Cenozoic volcanic rocks and sedimentary basin fill that is used to estimate the depth-to-basement in Cenozoic basins (Saltus and Jachens, 1995). The regional Saltus and Jachens (1995) depth-to-basement surface for

Arizona, California, Nevada, and Utah was joined with a depth-to-basement surface for Idaho (Mankinen and others, 2004). The resulting surface was combined with three higher resolution datasets from more recent regional studies of the Basin and Range carbonate-rock aquifer system (BARCAS) (Ponce and others, 2001; Welch and others, 2007), the DVRFS (Belcher, 2004), and geophysical framework investigations in east-central Nevada and west-central Utah (Watt and Ponce, 2007) (fig. A1-3). In areas where the detailed studies overlapped the regional Saltus and Jachens (1995) data, the original Saltus and Jachens data were replaced with the more recent data using a common 500-m² grid cell size of the Saltus and Jachens (1995) data. The depth-to-basement surface was compared to the HGU surficial geology map and modified so that the depth-to-basement surface altitude was equal to the NED altitude where pre-Cenozoic rocks outcrop on the HGU map. The final merged map was resampled using a 2.59 km² (1 mi²) grid cell size to be consistent with the HGU map. The end result is a single "depth-to-basement" surface that incorporates multiple datasets to represent the altitude of the pre-Cenozoic rock surface. The final gridded surface used in the hydrogeologic framework defines both the top of pre-Cenozoic rocks and the base of the Cenozoic sedimentary basin-fill deposits and volcanic rocks. The thickness of the Cenozoic rocks was derived by subtracting the depth-tobasement surface from the NED DEM (fig. A1-3).

Fault and Caldera Boundaries

Structural features, including faults and calderas, are abundant within the GBCAAS study area and affect the extent and depth of HGUs (see "Hydrogeologic Units" in Chapter B). Fault boundaries were compiled from and modified after Raines and others (1996), Hintze and others (2000), Potter and others (2002), Workman and others (2002), Page and others (2005), Ludington and others (1996), and Beard and others (2007), and were simplified to represent the regional scale of the study (fig. A1–4).

Caldera boundaries were compiled from numerous published sources (Shawe, 1972; Lindsey, 1982; Steven and others, 1984; Best and Grant, 1987; Best and others, 1989; Loucks and others, 1989; Gans and others, 1989; Ludington and others, 1996; Raines and others, 1996; Williams and others, 1997; Workman and others, 2002; Page and others, 2005; Henry, 2008). Caldera boundaries were also generalized for use at a regional scale (fig. A1–5). The caldera boundary dataset was used to control the extent of pre-Cenozoic HGUs within a caldera boundary. Calderas were assumed to have similar hydrogeologic properties as the noncarbonate confining unit (NCCU); therefore, the area contained within a caldera boundary is designated as NCCU and extends vertically to the base of the volcanic unit (VU).



Figure A1–2. Locations of wells and cross sections used to create the three-dimensional hydrogeologic framework in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.

Table A1–1. Correlation of hydrogeologic units between the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study and Death Valley regional flow system study.

[DVRFS HGU designations from Faunt and others, 2004, table E-1. Abbreviations: GBCAAS, Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system; DVRFS, Death Valley regional flow system; HGU, hydrogeologic unit; UBFAU, upper basin-fill aquifer unit; LBFAU, lower basin-fill aquifer unit; VU, volcanic unit; TLCAU, thrusted lower carbonate aquifer unit; TNCCU, thrusted noncarbonate confining unit; UCAU, upper carbonate aquifer unit; USCU, upper siliciclastic confining unit; LCAU, lower carbonate aquifer unit; NCCU, noncarbonate confining unit; NED, National Elevation Dataset]

GBCAAS HGU	DVRFS HGU	Stacking order	Calculation of top of HGU
UBFAU	YAA, YACU, OAA, OACU, LA, LFU, YVU, Upper VSU	9	Equals altitude of NED grid where UBFAU HGU exists.
LBFAU	YAA, YACU, OAA, OACU, LA, LFU, YVU, Upper VSU	8	Equals altitude of NED minus two-thirds the thickness of the basin-fill deposits (where thickness equals altitude of UBFAU grid minus altitude of depth-to-basement grid).
VU	TMVA, PVA, CHVU, WVU, CFPPA, CFBCU, CFTA, BRU, OVU, Lower VSU	7	Equals altitude of NED grid where VU HGU exists.
TLCAU	LCA_T1	6	Equals altitude of depth-to-basement grid.
TNCCU	LCCU_T1	5	Equals altitude of TLCAU grid minus thickness of TLCAU.
UCAU	SCU, UCA	4	Equals altitude of TNCCU grid minus thickness of TNCCU.
USCU	UCCU	3	Altitude of USCU grid is interpolated. Altitude set equal to UCAU or LCAU if the interpolated grid extended above or below the respective surfaces.
LCAU	LCA	2	Altitude of LCAU grid is interpolated. Altitude set equal to UCAU or NCCU if the interpolated grid extended above or below the respective surfaces.
NCCU	LCCU, XCU, ICU	1	Altitude of NCCU grid is interpolated. Altitude set equal to UCAU if the interpolated grid extended above respective surface.

Hydrogeologic Unit Gridded Surface Construction

In the hydrogeologic framework, individual HGUs are represented by an interpolated gridded surface of the top altitude of each HGU. Gridded surfaces were interpolated from the data described in the previous sections and modified in specific areas where data were limited. Different approaches were used for developing the upper basin-fill and lower basinfill aquifer units (UBFAU and LBFAU) and the VU surfaces than were used for gridding the pre-Cenozoic HGU surfaces due to differences and limitations of the data. Each of the nine individual HGU gridded surfaces covers the entire GBCAAS study area with an altitude represented in each grid cell. If the HGU does not exist in a cell, the next lower HGU has the same altitude value in that cell, thereby producing a thickness of zero between the HGUs.

Cenozoic Hydrogeologic Units

Cenozoic HGUs include the UBFAU, the LBFAU, and the VU. Point data sources such as geologic contacts from wells and cross sections often do not clearly define contacts between volcanic rock and basin-fill deposits, thereby limiting the accuracy of the interpolated HGU gridded surface. Because of this limitation, the Cenozoic units were delineated

using the NED surface, depth-to-basement surface, and surficial HGU map (fig. A1-1). Gridded surfaces were created from the surficial geology of Cenozoic sedimentary and volcanic units shown on the surficial HGU map (fig. A1-1). The altitude of the UBFAU gridded surface, representing the uppermost unit in the hydrogeologic framework, is defined by the NED and bounds the uppermost extent of all the lower HGUs. The two basin-fill aquifer HGUs have a combined thickness equal to the NED minus the depthto-basement surface (fig. A1-4) where Cenozoic sediments are present on the HGU map (fig. A1-1). Point data sources such as geologic contacts from wells and cross sections rarely delineate volcanic ash deposits, lava flows into valley centers, or semiconsolidated basin-fill deposits at depth; therefore, the basin-fill aquifer HGUs are divided into an upper unit (UBFAU) and a lower unit (LBFAU) to represent potential differences in hydrogeologic properties. The UBFAU is defined as the upper two-thirds of the total basinfill thickness, and the LBFAU as the lower one-third of the total basin-fill thickness. Wherever VU is present (fig. A1-1), it is represented as the thickness equal to the NED surface minus the depth-to-basement surface (fig. A1-5). The bottom surfaces of the LBFAU and VU are bounded by the depth-tobasement surface.



Figure A1–3. Locations of published datasets and estimated thickness of Cenozoic deposits (depth to pre-Cenozoic rocks) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.



Figure A1–4. Extent and thickness of the upper basin-fill (UBFAU) and lower basin-fill (LBFAU) aquifer units (combined) and major fault zones in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.



Figure A1–5. Extent and thickness of the volcanic unit (VU) and caldera boundaries in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.

Pre-Cenozoic Units

Surfaces representing the top altitude were created for each of the pre-Cenozoic HGUs—NCCU, the lower carbonate aquifer unit (LCAU), the upper siliciclastic confining unit (USCU), the upper carbonate aquifer unit (UCAU), the thrusted noncarbonate confining unit (TNCCU), and the thrusted lower carbonate aquifer unit (TLCAU). The depthto-basement surface is the top of the uppermost pre-Cenozoic unit surface (table A1–1).

The TNCCU and TLCAU spatial geometries (fig. A1–6) were interpolated by delineating the extent and thickness of two major thrust belts within the study area, the Roberts Mountain thrust and the Sevier thrust (see Chapter B). The TLCAU thickness was subtracted from the altitude of the depth-to-basement surface to determine the altitude of the top of the TNCCU. Subsequently, the TNCCU thickness was subtracted from the altitude of the top of the top

The altitudes of the NCCU, LCAU, and USCU gridded surfaces were interpolated from the data for each HGU using an inverse distance weighted algorithm. The algorithm also uses linear features as x-y pairs to represent major structural controls such as faults that act as barriers in the interpolation routine. The inverse distance weight across the linear feature was increased by a factor of 100, thereby limiting the unit interpolation across these structures.

The NCCU is stratigraphically the lowest unit and is the base of the 3D-hydrogeologic framework; therefore, the altitude of the NCCU surface defines the basal extent of all the pre-Cenozoic HGUs. The NCCU surface was limited by the digital elevatiom model and the UCAU, TLCAU, and (or) TNCCU surfaces so that it could not extend above the depthto-basement surface, the thrusted units, or the land surface datum. The NCCU surface within the caldera boundaries was set equal to the depth-to-basement surface because it is assumed that the caldera complexes have hydraulic properties similar to the NCCU HGU.

The LCAU and USCU surfaces are controlled by the altitude of the UCAU gridded surface, so that they cannot extend above the pre-Cenozoic surface. The extent and thickness of the interpolated LCAU HGU are controlled by the altitude of the LCAU surface minus the altitude of the NCCU surface (table A1–1). The thickness of the LCAU was

arbitrarily truncated at 6,000 m in areas where the NCCU surface was interpolated to be deeper than is likely. The NCCU surface was sequentially modified to be equal to the LCAU surface minus the LCAU thickness in the truncated areas. The extent and thickness of the interpolated USCU HGU are controlled by the altitude of the USCU surface minus the altitude of the LCAU surface. The extent and thickness of the USCU and LCAU HGUs are shown in figures A1–7 and A1–8, respectively. The extent and thickness of the UCAU are defined by the altitude of the UCAU surface (depth-to-basement minus thrusted units) minus the altitude of the USCU surface (fig. A1–9).

The resulting pre-Cenozoic HGU surfaces were compared to the surficial HGU map (fig. A1–1). Each HGU surface was adjusted so that the top was equal to the NED if the respective HGU occurred on the surficial map at the same point.

Three-Dimensional Hydrogeologic Framework

The final 3D-hydrogeologic framework was compiled by stacking the individual HGU gridded surfaces and allowing the individual HGU surfaces to represent the top altitude of each respective HGU (Z coordinate). The stacking order is defined by the geologic age of the unit, from oldest (Precambrian) to most recent (Quaternary) (table A1-1). An exception to the stacking rule applies to the thrusted surfaces, TNCCU and TLCAU, which are stacked relative to time of movement (Mesozoic) rather than age of deposition. HGU thickness is represented by the difference between altitudes of successive HGU surfaces such that the bottom of an HGU is always equal to the top of the HGU directly below it in the stacking order. Where the thickness is zero at a location, the respective HGU does not exist at that location. Cross sections and fence diagrams of the stacked 3D-hydrogeologic framework are illustrated on figures B-10 and B-11, respectively, in Chapter B.

The hydrogeologic framework is a simplified 3D representation of the hydrogeology of the entire GBCAAS study area, encompassing 165 individual hydrographic areas (HAs). As such, it is suitable for regional analysis at the scale of the GBCASS study but it may not accurately represent smaller scale hydrogeology within individual HAs, as it is not intended to be utilized at that scale.



Figure A1–6. Extent and thickness of the thrusted lower carbonate aquifer unit (TLCAU) and thrusted noncarbonate confining unit (TNCCU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.



Figure A1–7. Extent and thickness of the upper siliciclastic confining unit (USCU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.



Figure A1–8. Extent and thickness of the lower carbonate aquifer unit (LCAU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.



Figure A1–9. Extent and thickness of the upper carbonate aquifer unit (UCAU) in the Great Basin carbonate and alluvial aquifer system study area.

References Cited

- Beard, L.S., Anderson, R.E., Block, D.L., Bohannon, R.G., Brady, R.J., Castor, S.B., Duebendorfer, E.M., Faulds, J.E., Felger, T.J., Howard, K.A., Kuntz, M.A., and Williams, V.S., 2007, Preliminary geologic map of the Lake Mead 30' X 60' quadrangle, Clark County, Nevada, and Mohave County, Arizona: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2007–1010, 109 p., 3 pls., scale 1:100,000.
- Belcher, W.R., ed., 2004, Death Valley regional ground-water flow system, Nevada and California—Hydrogeologic framework and transient ground-water flow model: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2004– 5205, 408 p.
- Best, M.G., Christiansen, E.H., Deino, A.L., Grommé, C.S., McKee, E.H., and Noble, D.C., 1989, Excursion 3A: Eocene through Miocene volcanism in the Great Basin of the western United States: New Mexico Bureau of Mines and Mineral Resources Memoir, v. 47, p. 91–133.
- Best, M.G., and Grant, S.K., 1987, Stratigraphy of the volcanic Oligocene Needles Range Group in southwestern Utah and eastern Nevada: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1443–A, 28 p.
- Faunt, C.C., Sweetkind, D.S., and Belcher, W.R., 2004, Threedimensional hydrogeologic framework model, chap. E, of Belcher, W.R., ed., Death Valley regional ground-water flow system, Nevada and California—Hydrogeologic framework and transient ground-water flow model: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2004–5205, p. 164–255.
- Gans, P.B., Mahood, G.A., and Schermer, E., 1989, Synextensional magmatism in the Basin and Range province; A case study from the eastern Great Basin: Geological Society of America Special Paper 233, 53 p.
- Henry, C.D., 2008, Ash-flow tuffs and paleovalleys in northeastern Nevada: Implications for Eocene paleogeography and extension in the Sevier hinterland, northern Great Basin: Geosphere, v., no. 1, p. 1–35, doi: 10.1130/GES00122.1, accessed January 20, 2009 at http:// geosphere.gsapubs.org/content/4/1/1.abstract?ijkey=320 cabcbba80c521846d115a124126a106e1262a&keytype2 =tf_ipsecsha.
- Hess, R.H., Fitch, S.P., and Warren, S.N., 2004, Nevada oil and gas well database (NVOILWEL): Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 04–1, 242 p.
- Hintze, L.F., Willis, G.C., Laes, D.Y.M., Sprinkel, D.A., and Brown, K.D., 2000, Digital geologic map of Utah: Utah Geological Survey Map 179DM, CD-ROM, scale 1:500,000.

- Lindsey, D.A., 1982, Tertiary volcanic rocks and uranium in the Thomas Range and northern Drum Mountains, Juab County, Utah: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1221, 71 p.
- Loucks, M.D., Tingey, D.G., Best, M.G., Christiansen, E.H., and Hintze, L.F., 1989, Geologic map of the Fortification Range, Lincoln and White Pine Counties, Nevada: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Series Map I–1866, 1 sheet, scale 1:50,000.
- Ludington, S., Cox, D.P., Moring, B.C., and Leonard, K.R., 1996, Cenozoic volcanic geology of Nevada: Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 96–2, chap. 5, p. 5–1–5–10.
- Ludington, S., Moring, B.C., Miller, R.J., Stone, P.A., Bookstrom, A.A., Bedford, D.R., Evans, J.G., Haxel, G.A., Nutt, C.J., Flyn, K.S., and Hopkins, M.J., 2006, Preliminary integrated geologic map databases for the United States, western states: California, Nevada, Arizona, Washington, Oregon, Idaho, and Utah, version 1.2: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2005–1305, accessed March 2007, at http://pubs.usgs.gov/of/2005/1305/.
- Mankinen, E.A., Hildenbrand, T.G., Zientek, M.L., Box,
 S.E., Bookstrom, A.B., Carlson, M.H., and Larsen, J.C.,
 2004, Guide to geophysical data for the northern Rocky
 Mountains and adjacent areas, Idaho, Montana, Washington,
 Oregon, and Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File
 Report 2004–1413, 34 p.
- Nevada Division of Water Resources, 2008, Well log database: accessed February 8, 2008, at http://water.nv.gov/ engineering/wlog/wlog.cfm.
- Page, W.R., Dixon, G.L., Rowley, P.D., and Brickey, D.W., 2005, Geologic map of parts of the Colorado, White River, and Death Valley groundwater flow systems, Nevada, Utah, and Arizona: Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology Map 150, 23 p., 1 sheet, scale 1:250,000.
- Ponce, D.A., Blakely, R.J., Morin, R.L., and Mankinen, E.A., 2001, Isostatic gravity, aeromagnetic, and depth to pre-Cenozoic basement maps of the Death Valley ground-water model area, Nevada and California: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Map MF–2381–C, 1 sheet, scale 1:250,000, with pamphlet.
- Potter, C.J., Sweetkind, D.S., Dickerson, R.P., and Killgore, M.L., 2002, Hydrostructural map of the Death Valley ground-water basin, Nevada and California: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-2372, 2 sheets, scale 1:350,000, with pamphlet.
- Raines, G.L., Sawatzky, D.L., and Connors, K.A., 1996, Great Basin geoscience data base: U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–41, 2 CD-ROMs.

Saltus, R.W., and Jachens, R.C., 1995, Gravity and basindepth maps of the Basin and Range province, Western United States: U.S. Geological Survey Geophysical Investigation Map GP–1012, 1 sheet, scale 1:2,500,000.

Shawe, D.R., 1972, Reconnaissance geology and mineral potential of the Thomas, Keg, and Desert calderas, central Juab County, Utah: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 800–B, p. B67–B77.

Steven, T.A., Rowley, P.D., and Cunningham, C.G., 1984, Calderas of the Marysvale volcanic field, west central Utah: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 89, p. 8,751–8,764.

Tumbusch, M.L., and Schaefer, D.H., 1996, Selected hydrologic data for and location of MX wells in east-central and southern Nevada, January 1980 through May 1996: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 96–469, 37 p.

U.S. Geological Survey EROS Data Center, 1999, 1 arcsecond (30-meter) National Elevation Dataset: accessed June 26, 2005, at http://ned.usgs.gov/.

Utah Division of Oil, Gas, and Mining, 2008, Online oil and gas information system, accessed April 9, 2008, at http://oilgas.ogm.utah.gov/Data_Center/LiveData_Search/main_menu.htm.

Utah Division of Water Rights, 2008, Water distribution/ regulation—Distribution system list, accessed January 28, 2008, at http://www.waterrights.utah.gov/cgi-bin/ dvrtview.exe?Modinfo=StationView&STATION_ ID=2335&RECORD YEAR=2008. Watt, J.T., and Ponce, D.A., 2007, Geophysical framework investigations influencing ground-water resources in eastcentral Nevada and west-central Utah, with a section on geologic and geophysical basin-by-basin descriptions by Wallace, A.R., Watt, J.T., and Ponce, D.A.: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2007–1163, 47 p., 2 pls., scale 1:750,000.

Welch, A.H., Bright, D.J., and Knochenmus, L.A., eds., 2007, Water resources of the Basin and Range carbonaterock aquifer system, White Pine County, Nevada, and adjacent areas in Nevada and Utah: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2007–5261, 96 p.

Williams, V.S., Best, M.G., and Keith, J.D., 1997, Geologic map of the Ursine-Panaca Summit-Deer Lodge area, Lincoln County, Nevada, and Iron County, Utah: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Series Map I–2479, 1 sheet, scale 1:50,000.

Workman, J.B., Menges, C.M., Page, W.R., Ekren, E.B., Rowley, P.D., and Dixon, G.L., 2002, Tectonic map of the Death Valley ground-water model area, Nevada and California: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF–2381–B, 1 pl., scale 1:350,000, with pamphlet.

16 Conceptual Model of the Great Basin Carbonate and Alluvial Aquifer System